
Argyll and Bute Council
Comhairle Earra-Ghàidheal Agus Bhòid

Customer  Services
Executive Director:  Douglas Hendry

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT
Tel:  01546 602127  Fax:  01546 604435

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD

30 March 2017

NOTICE OF MEETING

A special meeting of the COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE will be held in the COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on THURSDAY, 6 APRIL 2017 at 2:00 PM, or at the 
conclusion of the Environment, Development and Infrastructure Services Committee at 10.30 am, 
whichever is the later, which you are requested to attend.

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director of Customer Services

BUSINESS

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3. STRATEGIC INSPECTION OF THE EDUCATION FUNCTIONS OF THE COUNCIL 

(a) Inspection Chronology - report by Acting Executive Director - Community 
Services (Pages 1 - 8)

(b) Inspection Concerns - report by Acting Executive Director - Community 
Services (Pages 9 - 16)

(c) Report by Education Scotland (Pages 17 - 40)

(d) Response to the Inspection - report by Acting Executive Director - 
Community Services (Pages 41 - 56)

Community Services Committee

Councillor Maurice Corry Councillor Robin Currie (Chair)
Councillor Gordon Blair Councillor Rory Colville
Councillor Mary-Jean Devon (Vice-Chair)
Councillor George Freeman Councillor Kieron Green
Councillor Anne Horn Councillor Neil MacIntyre
Councillor John McAlpine Councillor Roderick McCuish

Public Document Pack



Councillor Julie McKenzie Councillor James McQueen
Councillor Aileen Morton Councillor Elaine Robertson
Councillor Isobel Strong Margaret Anderson
William Hamilton Alison Palmer
William Shaw

Contact: Fiona McCallum,   Tel: 01546 604392



 

 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
 

COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE

COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

6 APRIL 2017

 
INSPECTION OF THE EDUCATION FUNCTIONS OF ARGYLL AND BUTE 

COUNCIL (INEA) 
INSPECTION CHRONOLOGY 

 
 

 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
 1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Elected Members with an 

overview of the recent INEA inspection. The report summarises the 
chronology of the inspection carried out by Education Scotland in 
September 2016. It further notes the actions taken by Council to 
respond to changes to the agreed inspection timescales and to mitigate 
against associated challenges and risks for the Council. 

   
 1.2 It is recommended that the Community Services Committee:  
   
 a) Note the chronology of events incorporating agreed Education Scotland 

timescales for the inspection of the Education functions of Argyll and 
Bute Council; 

 b) Note the actions by Council Officers to raise and address serious and 
significant concerns regarding the process and conduct of the 
inspection.   

 
  
 
  
  

Page 1 Agenda Item 3a



 

 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
 

COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE

COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

6  APRIL 2017

 
INSPECTION OF THE EDUCATION FUNCTIONS OF ARGYLL AND BUTE 

COUNCIL (INEA) 
INSPECTION CHRONOLOGY 

 
 

 
 
2.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
 2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Elected Members with an 

overview the recent INEA inspection. The report summarises the 
chronology of the inspection carried out by Education Scotland in 
September 2016. It further notes the actions taken by Council to 
respond to changes to the agreed inspection timescales and to mitigate 
against associated challenges and risks for the Council.  

   
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 It is recommended that the Community Services Committee: 
 a) Note the chronology of events incorporating agreed Education Scotland 

timescales for the inspection of the Education functions of Argyll and 
Bute Council; 

 b) Note the actions by Council Officers to raise and address serious and 
significant concerns regarding the process and conduct of the 
inspection.   

   
4.0 DETAIL 

 
 4.1 In March 2016, the published Local Scrutiny Plan for Argyll and Bute 

Council indicated that Educations Scotland would carry out scrutiny in 
Argyll and Bute.  A strategic level inspection of the Education 
functions of the council, constituted this scrutiny activity. 

   
 4.2 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Education Scotland notified the Council’s Chief Executive on the 28th 
June 2016 (one day before the end of the school session) that an 
announced inspection of the Education Services by Education 
Scotland would commence the week beginning 19th September 2016, 
with an anticipated conclusion with the publication of a public report 
by the end of November 2016. The Council highlighted the timing was 
unusual and as the schools staff would be on summer recess, this 
limited their engagement in preparation for the inspection. 
 

 4.3 
 

At the outset of the inspection a timetable (in line with Education 
Scotland procedures) was set out by the Managing Inspector, 

Page 2



 

 
 
 
 

confirmed and agreed with Education Services. The following 
chronology sets out the inspection footprint, noting the specific 
activities and instances were a number of the agreed timescales were 
not met. These were as follows: 
 

 4.4 
 

Quality Management in Education (QMIE2): Revision to be issued 
to Education Services week commencing 4th July 2016.   
 

  Education Scotland advised the Council that it proposed to develop and 
use a revised inspection framework (QMIE2) for use for the first time in 
the Argyll and Bute inspection. There was agreement from Education 
Scotland at the meeting of 28th June 2016 that the revised QMIE 2 
would be available over the course of the next few days.  This was not 
received. Education Services made further enquires on at least two 
occasions requesting a date for issue of the revised framework. 
 

 4.5 
 

The revised draft of QMIE 2 was finally circulated to the Head of 
Education on 2 August 2016, approximately 5 weeks prior to the 
expected date for submission of the authority self- evaluation scoping 
paper. Changes had been made to the quality indicators beyond 
minor terminology updates, as well as the themes and illustrations for 
each of the indicators.   
 

 4.6 
 

Work undertaken by the Service in preparing the authority self-
evaluation required to be analysed, revised and reorganised in light of 
these changes. Furthermore, despite agreement that no formal 
template would be issued by Education Scotland for use in preparing 
and submitting the self-evaluation profile a formal template was issued to 
the service by the Managing Inspector for use on 8th August 2016. This 
contradicted the original messages shared by members of Education 
Scotland during the initial meeting held on 28 June 2016 and resulted 
in considerable additional work for the Service. 
 

 4.7 
 

Inspection Footprint: scheduled for 19-23 September 
Education Scotland advised the Inspection week 19th – 23rd 
September 2016. 
 

 4.8 An initial inspection footprint along with supporting inspection activity 
programme was provided to the Managing Inspector as requested. 
Following review by Education Scotland, the revised footprint/ 
inspection activity was discussed on further dates between 7th and 
13th September during which important changes were made to the 
original programme. These included change of locations for a number 
of the inspection team, from a central location to requiring the 
authority to establish bases in each of the four geographical areas of 
the authority. These changes necessitated re-organisation of support 
arrangements for members of the inspection team including finding 
alternative venues, short notice invitations for stakeholders to attend 
meetings which limited their engagement prior to being involved in the 
inspection, interviews and other focus group activity. The Education 

Page 3



 

authority received criticism from a number of participants regarding 
the short notice and lack of preparation which is reflected in the 
feedback from events and focus groups. 
 

 4.9 The Education Services self-evaluation summary was issued to 
Education Scotland - 6 September 2016. 
 

 4.10 
 

As part of the planned inspection activity there was an agreement that 
central education service staff would be available in each of the four 
geographical areas during the inspection week. Following inspection 
commencement the Service received an email from the Managing 
Inspector requesting that central officers should be asked to withdraw 
from the planned inspection activity. No rationale was provided for this 
extraordinary step which prevented the authority staff providing 
information and evidence to allow for appropriate checking and 
triangulation of evidence.  

 4.11 
 

During the course of the inspection week a number of requests were 
made to members of the inspection team for clarification of planned 
one to one meetings with key officers which had been requested by 
Education Scotland but were not timetabled within the inspection 
week timetable These included critically the Head of Education, 
Acting Executive Director and members of the Education 
Management Team. Given the initial emphasis on the strategic nature 
of this inspection, the lack of inclusion of senior officers in focus 
groups or through individual interviews was extraordinary and not in 
keeping with usual inspection practice. 
 

 4.12 
 

Inspection Feedback: scheduled for week beginning 3 October 
Initial summary finding on the outcome of the inspection were 
provided to the Council week beginning 3rd October 2016. During the 
feedback Education Scotland confirmed that the draft inspection 
report would be issued to Argyll & Bute Council (Chief Executive) 
early-Mid November 2016, with an expectation that comments from 
the Council to Education Scotland would be provided within seven 
days of the issue of the draft report. At this stage a revised inspection 
report publication date was indicated as early January 2017. 
 

 4.13 At that initial feedback, the Chief Executive raised serious and 
significant concerns about the process and conduct of the inspection 
with a senior member of Education Scotland. It was agreed to await 
receipt of the draft report before engaging further in relation to these 
concerns. 
 

 4.14 Report Publication: scheduled for late November 2016. 
An initial draft inspection report was issued to the Councils Chief 
Executive on 9th December 2016. At this stage the draft report 
contained a number of factual inaccuracies.  
 

   

Page 4



 

 4.15 Following a thorough review of the draft report the Council provided a 
comprehensive assessment of the findings, accompanied by a wide 
range of further supporting evidence to Education Scotland for their 
consideration within the agreed timescale of 24 January 2017. This 
highlighted a number of factual inaccuracies and substantive 
concerns at perceived failures to verify and triangulate information on 
which findings were founded.  
 

 4.16 Following this submission the Council requested an urgent meeting 
with a senior member of staff from Education Scotland and set out the 
extensive concerns with the accuracy of the report, underlying 
conclusions and the process. This meeting took place on 1st February 
2017. In addition to these extensive comments, officers supplied further 
information to support the concerns raised about the accuracy of the 
report. A draft copy of a complaint regarding conduct issues was also 
supplied for information in the anticipation that the concerns could be 
resolved without formalising the complaint. At the conclusion of the 
meeting Education Scotland advised it would engage the members of 
the inspection team and arrange to meet with council staff to respond 
to the concerns raised. 
 

 4.17 Following a period of six weeks, during which no subsequent contact 
was made by Education Scotland, the Chief Executive was advised by 
telephone call (5.30 p.m. on Friday 10th March) from the senior member 
of staff from Education Scotland who had attended the 1st February 
meeting and committed to further engagement on the submitted 
concerns. The purpose of the call was to inform the Authority that the 
inspection report was scheduled for publication on Tuesday 21st March 
and that the Council would receive an advance copy on Tuesday 14th 
March 2017.  
 

 4.18 The Chief Executive protested that it was unacceptable for the report 
to be published without addressing the serious and significant concerns 
raised. He highlighted that 6 months had passed since the inspection 
and 6-7 weeks from the 1st February meeting and queried why the 21st 
March publication date was being pursued without the promised 
engagement. No satisfactory answer was provided. 
 

 4.19 A draft report was provided to the Council on Tuesday 14th March 2017 
– on review the key elements of the concerns raised remained 
unaddressed in the report and large number of factual inaccuracies 
remained. 
 

 4.20 The Chief Executive spoke on Wednesday 15th March 2017 with a 
Depute Director of Education Scotland to escalate his concerns and 
query why the 21st March date was pursued without engagement. He 
was advised Education Scotland believed that senior staff in the 
Council were unavailable because of the budget process despite the 
fact the council had agreed its budget over 3 weeks prior. On the matter 
of factual inaccuracies, he was advised Education Scotland would 

Page 5



 

allow a further submission on these points but that they would be 
needed by 5 p.m. that night. Given the lack of engagement over the 
preceding 6 weeks, the Chief Executive reiterated that this was 
unacceptable. 
 

 4.21 At short notice a meeting was arranged on the evening of Thursday 
16th March for the sole purpose of clarifying factual inaccuracies. 
Following the meeting they were written up and sent to Education 
Scotland on Friday 17th March.  
 

 4.22 The Chief Executive made a final attempt to avoid a confrontation on 
this issue by calling the Chief Executive of Education Scotland to 
request a delay to the publication of the report to allow for the 
engagement meeting committed to previously and to ensure that the 
report when published was accurate. The request was denied and 
when the Council’s Chief Executive asked why this date was 
immovable given the delays already introduced to the process by 
Education Scotland, he was advised it would be published because 
Education Scotland had no reason not to. 
 

 4.23 Following this telephone call a formal complaint was submitted to 
Education Scotland regarding the process and conduct of the 
inspection of the Education functions of the authority. 
 

 4.24 The Education Scotland report was published on the Education 
Scotland website on the 21st March 2017. 
 

 4.25 At the time of writing, the inspection framework applied to Argyll and 
Bute Council has still not been published and we understand from 
Education Scotland staff that it is unlikely to be used again for any other 
Council inspection.   
 

   
5.0 CONCLUSION 

 
 5.1 This report provides an overview for Elected Members of the 

chronology of events related to the inspection of the Education 
functions of Argyll and Bute Council. It notes the actions taken by 
Council staff to address these concerns and to mitigate potential 
challenges and risk for the Council. 

 
 

  

6.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 

 6.1 Policy 
 

The Standards in Scotland’s Schools etc. Act 2000 
places a duty on education authorities to provide 
children and young people with school education 
and (in terms of raising standards) requires 
authorities to endeavor to secure improvement in 
the quality of that school education.   

Page 6



 

 
 6.2 Financial 

 
None. 

 6.3 Legal 
 

None. 

 6.4 HR 
 

None. 

 6.5 Equalities 
 

None. 

 6.6 Risk 
 

The outcome of the INEA inspection reports 
presents a significant reputational risk to the Council. 

 6.7 Customer 
Service 
 

None. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Ann Marie Knowles 
Acting Executive Director of Community Services 
 

  
Councillor Rory Colville 
Policy Lead for Education and Lifelong Learning 
 
25 March 2017 
                                                  
For further information contact: 
Ann Marie Knowles 
Acting Executive Director, Community Services 
Tel: 01546 604112 
Email: annmarie.knowles@argyll-bute.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
 

COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE

COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

6 APRIL 2017

 
INSPECTION OF THE EDUCATION FUNCTIONS OF ARGYLL AND BUTE  

COUNCIL (INEA):   
INSPECTION CONCERNS  

 
 

 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
 1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Elected Members with an 

update of Community Services concerns in relation to the recent INEA 
inspection. The report outlines a number of areas of concern associated 
with the inspection carried out by Education Scotland in September 
2016.  

   
 1.2 It is recommended that the Community Services Committee:  
  a) Note the concerns raised by Community Services arising from the 

recent  inspection of the Education functions of Argyll and Bute 
Council; 

b) Note the actions taken by Community Services in responding to 
these concerns, and 

c) Note that the Council will continue to work with Education Scotland 
to respond to the actions arising from the INEA inspection. 

   
   
   

 
  
 
  
  

Page 9 Agenda Item 3b



 

 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
 

COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE

COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

6  APRIL 2017

 
INSPECTION OF THE EDUCATION FUNCTIONS OF ARGYLL AND BUTE  

COUNCIL (INEA):   
INSPECTION CONCERNS  

 
 

 
 
2.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
 2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Elected Members with an 

update of Community Services concerns in relation to the recent INEA 
inspection. The report outlines a number of areas of concern associated 
with the inspection carried out by Education Scotland in September 
2016.  

   
 2.2 Education Scotland undertook an Inspection of the Education Functions 

of the Authority in September 2016. The conclusion to the inspection, 
with the publication of a public report was anticipated by the end of 
November 2016. Following a number of delays to the inspection the 
final inspection report was published on 21 March 2017. 

   
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 It is recommended that the Community Services Committee: 
 a) Note the concerns raised by Community Services arising from the 

recent inspection of the education functions of Argyll and Bute Council;
  

 b) Note the actions taken by Community Services in responding to these 
concerns, and 

 c) Note that the Council will continue to work with Education Scotland to 
respond to the actions arising from the INEA inspection. 

   
4.0 DETAIL 

 
 4.1 The process developed for the inspection of the education functions 

of Argyll and Bute Council has given rise to serious and significant 
concerns by Community Services. These were raised at an early 
stage with senior officers of Education Scotland, have been the 
subject of a number of submissions by Council staff and latterly and 
regrettably in the form of a formal complaint to Education Scotland 
(see Chronology report for details). Despite a period of 6 months 
having elapsed since the inspection week, it is the view of officers that 
these concerns have not been addressed, responded to and further 

Page 10



 

concerned that Education Scotland have chosen to publish the report 
without due consideration of the concerns. 
 

 4.2 
 

In summary the issues raised with Education Scotland include: 

   The notification of inspection timetable given the day before the 
start of the school summer holidays which limited the 
engagement of school based staff in the preparation for 
inspection; 

 The application of a revised set of quality indicators (updated 
QMIE2) during the inspection of Argyll and Bute Council. These 
were not tested, consulted on or even published prior to their 
engagement with Argyll and Bute (they remain unpublished at 
this time). We further understand the indicator set will not be 
used in any subsequent authority inspections; 

 A change to the inspection programme one week prior to 
commencement, requiring a substantial rearrangement and 
limited the engagement of stakeholders then involved in the 
inspection; 

 The inspection team featured 8 Education Scotland Area Lead 
Officers without any Associate Inspectors from other authority 
areas who are routinely used to moderate inspection from the 
perspective of current practitioners;  

 The inspection and construction of the final report appears not to 
have followed Education Scotland’s own PRAISE framework and 
protocols which is used to guide the approach to inspection and 
reporting on inspection. In particular, the report appears to 
feature inspection gradings that are not based on verified 
evidence. Feedback from a range of Education personnel post 
inspection generally agreed that the inspection did not follow 
Education Scotland’s stated principles of inspection, notably 
adherence to the PRAISE framework.  Examples are highlighted 
below. 

 
 4.3 

 
Purpose – being clear throughout about the overall purpose of the 
inspection: Participants in the inspection reported a detailed  and 
disproportionate focus on the role and performance of named officers 
or on the political management arrangements of the Council reflecting 
the position in 2013. The Managing Inspector was viewed as having 
shared very limited information on the purpose or shape of the 
inspection with the group  attending the presentation at the start of the 
week of inspection  activity. 
 

 4.4 
 

Relationships – building and maintaining constructive relationships 
throughout the process as the basis of a high  quality 
inspection/review: 
 
During a formal debrief exercise with Central Officers feedback from 
their experience as participants consistently reported that interviews 
and focus groups were at times adversarial in tone, for example a 

Page 11



 

young person attending a focus group explicitly asking if the purpose 
of the group was to get a specific manager ‘in to trouble’.   

   
   
 4.5 

 
Awareness – maintaining a high level of awareness of the context in 
which staff are operating, of their feelings and reactions to the process 
and of the inspector’s own approach and its impact: 
 
It was highlighted that it was unusual, if not unknown, for an inspection 
team to feature no current practitioners as associate inspectors to 
assist with moderation activities. We view this as a digression from 
normal practice which suggests that Argyll and Bute was not treated in 
the same way as with other authority or even establishment inspection 
activities. 

 
Staff reported the process of this inspection (not the outcome) to have 
been very “bruising” in the manner it was carried out.  There appeared 
to be a lack of awareness of the feelings and reactions of those 
participating in the inspection. 
 

 4.6 Information gathering – careful inquiry to gather and analyse 
evidence. Retaining an objective stance, testing assumptions and 
assimilating data before evaluating: 
 
Reports from participants indicated that frequently the content of focus 
groups appeared far from objective with concerns raised about pre-
conceptions or clear agenda in place, often at odds with the stated 
purpose of the activity. For example, significant time in the learning 
technologies group focused on leadership.  The draft report and the 
subsequent comments on the draft would appear to confirm that 
insufficient time was spent during interviews and focus groups testing 
assumptions and assimilating data to ensure clear evidence for 
evaluation.   

 
There was an apparent absence of appropriate and rigorous 
triangulation of information and evidence by the inspection team in 
forming conclusions and drafting opinions featured in the final report. 
As illustration, whilst noting positive actions by the authority in relation 
to ASN services resulting in fair and equitable resource allocation, the 
report references negative comments by “several” head teachers 
regarding reductions in ASN allocations. Appropriate triangulation 
would have confirmed that those schools received resources according 
to their entitlement based on a consistent needs led allocation formula 
related to individual pupil assessed need. 
 

 4.7 Sharing information – communicating thoroughly throughout the 
process to prepare and inform staff. Encouraging staff to be open in 
providing their perspective and providing appropriate feedback as the 
inspection/review progresses: 
 

Page 12



 

Feedback from participants indicated this inspection process was a 
return to much earlier models of inspection where inspectors shared 
little or nothing of what they were learning throughout the week.  There 
was no appropriate feedback as the inspection progressed which did 
not allow for collaborative dialogue and clarification to take place Of all 
the PRAISE elements, had this been done differently, there could have 
been a more positive experience with shared learning taking place 
throughout. 

 
Proper engagement during the inspection process would have ensured 
that inspectors were signposted to evidence to allow for proper 
checking and triangulation of statements. 
 

 4.8 Enabling – treating people with respect, engaging them in professional 
dialogue, recognising their efforts and providing feedback in a 
constructive way to encourage ownership and learning to take place: 
 

  Through our formal debrief process participants reported that not all 
members of the inspection team took an enabling approach.  
Participants advised, in almost all cases, it did not feel that ownership 
was being encouraged.   
 

   Significant evidence of a lack of checking of statements made 
in focus groups or through questionnaires or triangulation of 
evidence to verify the accuracy of statements made. In 
particular this has meant that the published report continues to 
feature inaccurate conclusions; 

   Report writing – the report features numerous examples of 
being written to present a negative counterpoint to any positive 
statements. For example the section on outcomes for learners 
makes no reference to the national Participation Measure 
(outcomes for young people aged 16-24 years) which places 
Argyll and Bute 5th highest in Scotland for positive destinations 
for this group. 

   There appears to have been limited reference to the significant 
volume of information prepared by the council in its self-
evaluation submission. That evidence would have been a 
source for checking a number of the statements and 
conclusions made in the inspection report; and 

   Timescales for the inspection engagement with the Council and 
production of the inspection report have consistently not been 
met. 

   
 4.9 Following the initial verbal feedback to the Council’s Chief Executive 

and senior education staff, the Chief Executive raised a number of 
serious concerns with the process and conduct of the inspection. 
More formally, Council staff presented their response to the initial 
findings of Education Scotland, as presented in their initial draft 
inspection report which was issued to the Council’s Chief Executive 
on 9th December 2016.  

Page 13



 

 
 4.10 A number of Education Scotland protocols are in place, in line with 

Education Scotland procedures for inspection. These include: 
 The discussions within the initial summary of findings meeting; 
 The issue of the draft inspection report, and 
 The issue of the final report, which has specific embargo 

procedures prior to the confirmed Education Scotland 
publication date. 

 
 4.11 Despite these protocols and the associated confidentiality the 

Authority expressed concern that there has been a number of 
breaches in the protocols resulting in approaches to members of 
Authority staff during which confidential information was relayed. 
 

 4.12 A further report on the inspection chronology provides an outline of 
the contacts between council staff and Education Scotland in relation 
to the inspection leading to the publication of the report on 21st March 
2017. 
 

 4.13 The published report presents very negative evaluations of the 
Council’s Education provision, these are set out below alongside the 
self-evaluation gradings as presented to the Community Services  
Committee on 8 December 2016 as follows: 

  

Quality Indicator Argyll and 
Bute 
Evaluation 

Education 
Scotland 
Evaluation 

QI 1.1: 
Improvements in 
performance 

Satisfactory Weak 

QI 2.1: Impact on 
children, young 
people, adult 
learners and families 

Satisfactory Satisfactory 

QI 5.1: Delivering 
and improving the 
quality of services 

Satisfactory Weak 

QI 9.2: Leadership 
and direction 

Satisfactory Weak 

QI 9.4 leadership of 
change and 
improvement 

Satisfactory Weak 

  
5.0 CONCLUSION 

 
 5.1 This report provides an overview for Elected Members of Community 

Services concerns in relation to the recent INEA inspection. The report 
outlines a number of areas of concern associated with the inspection 
carried out by Education Scotland in September 2016. It further notes 

Page 14



 

the actions taken by Community Services to respond to these concerns 
and to mitigate potential challenges and risk for the Council.  

   
6.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 
 6.1 Policy 

 
The Standards in Scotland’s Schools etc. Act 
2000 places a duty on education authorities to 
provide children and young people with school 
education and (in terms of raising standards) 
requires authorities to endeavor to secure 
improvement in the quality of that school 
education.   
 

 6.2 Financial 
 

None. 

 6.3 Legal 
 

None. 

 6.4 HR 
 

None. 

 6.5 Equalities 
 

None. 

 6.6 Risk 
 

The outcome of the INEA inspection reports 
presents a significant reputational risk to the 
Council. 

 6.7 Customer Service 
 

None. 

 
 
 
 
Ann Marie Knowles 
Acting Executive Director of Community Services 
 

  
Councillor Rory Colville 
Policy Lead for Education and Lifelong Learning 
 
25 March 2017 
                                                  
For further information contact:  
 
Ann Marie Knowles 
Acting Executive Director of Community Services 
Tel: 01546 604112 
Email: annmarie.knowles@argyll-bute.gov.uk  
 
 
  

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Strategic Inspection of the Education Functions of 
Local Authorities 
 
Argyll and Bute Council 
 
 
21 March 2017 
 
 
 

Page 17 Agenda Item 3c



 
Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council   2 

Contents  
 
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 1 
2. Aims, nature and scope of the inspection .............................................................................. 1 
3. The context of Argyll and Bute Council .................................................................................. 2 
4. What key outcomes has the Education Authority achieved? ................................................. 2 
5. How well does the Education Authority meet the needs of its stakeholders? ........................ 5 
6. How well does the Education Authority deliver and improve the quality of its education 

services? ............................................................................................................................... 7 
7. How well is the Education Authority led? ............................................................................... 9 
8. What is the Education Authority’s capacity for improvement? ............................................. 14 
Appendix 1 ................................................................................................................................. 16 
Appendix 2 ................................................................................................................................. 17 
Appendix 3 ................................................................................................................................. 20 
 
 

Page 18



 

 
1     Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council 
 

1. Introduction 
 
Background 
The Standards in Scotland’s Schools etc. Act 2000 places a duty on education authorities to 
provide children and young people with school education and (in terms of raising standards) 
requires authorities to endeavour to secure improvement in the quality of that school education.  
The Act also places a duty on HM Inspectors to provide external evaluation of the effectiveness 
and performance of education authorities in relation to their education functions.  
 
HM Inspectors from Education Scotland participate in the Shared Risk Assessment (SRA) 
process which was introduced in 2009 following the Crerar Review (The Report of the 
Independent Review of Regulation, Audit, Inspection and Complaints Handling of Public 
Services in Scotland).  The SRA process involves the national scrutiny bodies working 
together to identify risks and propose scrutiny responses.  This results in an annual local 
scrutiny plan which identifies any area of risk and agreed scrutiny responses.   
 
The Local Scrutiny Plan for Argyll and Bute Council was published in March 2016 and 
identified several areas of risk in terms of the council’s education functions and the need 
for scrutiny.  This strategic level inspection of the education functions of the council 
constitutes this scrutiny response. 
 
 

2. Aims, nature and scope of the inspection 
 
Scrutiny Response 
This inspection was conducted within the European Framework for Quality Management using 
selected, updated quality indicators from Quality Management In Education 2 and in 
accordance with Education Scotland’s Principles of Inspection and Review and Code of 
Conduct. 
 
The inspection and this report set out to answer the following key questions. 
 
 What key outcomes has the education authority achieved? 
 How well are the needs of stakeholders being met? 
 How well does the education authority deliver and improve the quality of its education 

services? 
 How good is the quality of strategic leadership and direction? 
 What is the education authority’s capacity for improvement? 

 
Quality Indicators 
The following updated quality indicators were evaluated against the six-point scale as shown in 
Appendix 3.   
 
QI 1.1  Improvements in performance 
QI 2.1  Impact on children, young people, adult learners and families 
QI 5.1  Delivering and improving the quality of services 
QI 9.2  Leadership and direction 
QI 9.4  Leadership of change and improvement 
 

Page 19



 

 
Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council   2 

3. The context of Argyll and Bute Council  
 
Argyll and Bute is bounded by the urban areas of Helensburgh and Dunoon along the Clyde, 
Loch Lomond to the east, the Mull of Kintyre to the south, Atlantic Islands to the west, and the 
Sound of Mull and Appin to the north.   
 
Argyll and Bute is the second largest local authority area in Scotland and has a population of 
approximately 90,000.  Almost half of all inhabitants (45%) live in settlements of 3,000 or more 
people; conversely, 55% of Argyll and Bute’s population live in settlements with fewer than 
3,000 people, or outwith settlements altogether.  It has more inhabited islands (23) than any of 
Scotland’s other council areas, including the three islands authorities.  These islands include, 
Bute, Islay, Jura, Mull, Iona, Coll and Tiree and account for 17% of the total population of Argyll 
and Bute.  Around 80% of Argyll and Bute’s population live within one kilometre of the coast.  
The size of the area and its population spread mean that multiple facilities for service delivery 
are needed to ensure services are delivered close to users and communities.  The distances 
between main settlements and involvement of ferry services create challenges in terms of 
reliability, time and cost of travel. 
 
The current political administration has been in place since 2013 and is a coalition of the Argyll 
and the Islands Group (TALIG) and the Alliance of Independent Councillors and an Independent 
Councillor.  The Leader of the Council is an Independent Councillor.   
 
The work of education services is monitored by elected members through the Community 
Services, Performance Review and Scrutiny, Audit and Policy and Resources committees. 
 
The council’s Chief Executive, previously Executive Director of Community Services, took up 
post in May 2016.  As a result, the Head of Education then became acting Executive Director of 
Community Services and an acting Head of Education was appointed from within the Education 
Management Team.  
 
Argyll and Bute currently has 89 schools, comprising 78 primary, ten secondary and one special 
school.  Of its 78 primary schools, almost half have a roll of 25 or less.  There are 11 joint 
headships across 22 primary schools.  The largest of the ten secondary schools is Hermitage 
Academy with 1,308 young people and the smallest is Tiree High School, with a roll of 27.  The 
Education Service, like many of Scotland’s other local authorities, can experience challenges in 
recruiting staff across Argyll and Bute.  The service works with a range of partners, including 
Argyll College, to help it to train and develop staff locally in Argyll and Bute.  The council 
successfully met its target for teacher numbers in 2016. 
 
 

4. What key outcomes has the Education Authority 
achieved? 

 
Whilst there are a few areas of strength, there remain significant areas for improvement in how 
well the education authority has achieved positive outcomes for its children and young people.  
Overall, the quality indicator ‘Improvements in Performance’ is evaluated as weak. 
 
  

Page 20



 

 
3     Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council 
 

Attendance and Exclusions 
Attendance rates across primary, special and secondary schools are above the national 
averages.  A newly developed approach to monitoring attendance has been rolled out 
successfully in all ten secondary schools.  The number of children excluded from primary and 
special schools is well below national averages.  The number excluded from secondary school 
is declining over time and is also below national averages.   
 
Achievement 
The achievement of children and young people across Argyll and Bute Council reflects a broad 
range of national and award bearing wider achievement qualifications.  Schools have worked 
well to develop a wide range of learning pathways for young people which enables them to 
achieve a broad range of skills.  Over two thousand young people enhanced their achievement 
portfolio last session and this has contributed well to securing positive, sustained destinations 
for young people when they leave school.  The council has secured a number of key partners to 
enhance the achievement of young people across all four administrative areas.  There are 
strong examples of young people accessing courses to meet specific local needs, such as, 
Maritime Skills.  A large number of Skills for Work qualifications are available across the 
authority in key skills which have the potential to grow the local economy and enhance services, 
for example, in early education and childcare, hospitality, engineering and rural skills.  The 
2014/15 council Standards and Quality report documents clearly the range of wider 
achievement courses and awards gained by young people.   
 
Over 1500 young people last session achieved across a broad range of awards including the 
Duke of Edinburgh’s Award, John Muir, Saltire and Youth Achievement Awards.  This is helping 
them to extend their personal achievements and to enhance their skills for learning, life and 
work.  Schools are regular, successful contributors to the national Mod.  The council’s Modern 
Apprenticeship programme has provided 23 young people with relevant placements and a few 
schools have been successful in offering senior phase learners Foundation Apprenticeships in 
both engineering and health and social care.   
 
Attainment 
In almost all early learning and childcare (ELC) settings, most children achieve their expected 
developmental milestones.  In primary schools, children make a promising start.  Data provided 
by the authority during the inspection indicates that most children achieve in line with national 
expectations in key aspects of literacy and numeracy by the end of P1.  The proportion of 
children and young people who continue to achieve in line with national expectations then 
declines, overall, across the remainder of their primary school experience but then improves 
again by the end of S3 in secondary school.  Progress for children and young people in Gaelic 
medium education follows a broadly similar pattern.  The council is working with schools to build 
higher levels of confidence in making professional judgements about the progress of pupils.  
This includes further work on making effective use of increasingly robust data and in developing 
approaches to moderation.  
 
At the secondary stages, young people’s attainment across the senior phase in National 
Qualifications has recently improved in a few key measures.  For example, in 2016, the 
numbers achieving success at Higher level (SCQF level 6) at S5 and S6 improved, overall, from 
the previous year and is now broadly similar to comparable1 and national averages.   

                                            
1 The term, ‘comparable average’, is used when comparing the performance of pupils in Argyll and Bute 
with pupils who have similar needs and backgrounds in Scotland’s other local authorities. 

Page 21



 

 
Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council   4 

Overall, however, there remains considerable scope for further improvements in attainment.  In 
several important measures of attainment, young people in Argyll and Bute do less well than 
learners who have similar needs and backgrounds from elsewhere. 
 
Young people’s attainment and progress in literacy and numeracy by the time they leave school 
is overall lower than comparable averages. 
 
Young people’s attainment by the time they leave school in terms of tariff2 scores is, overall, 
lower or much lower than comparable averages.  
 
Young people’s attainment in National Qualifications has declined over recent years in several 
important measures.  At S4, the number of young people achieving National Qualifications is 
now well below comparable and national averages.  By S5, the number achieving National 
Qualifications at SCQF level 4 and 5 is now below or well below comparable and national 
averages.  The gap between young people’s performance at SCQF levels 4 and 5 in Argyll and 
Bute and elsewhere has widened considerably in the last three years.  By S6, the proportion 
achieving National Qualifications at SCQF level 5 has broadly declined over the last three years 
and is lower than comparable averages. 
 
Positive destinations from school 
The number of young people securing a positive destination on leaving school has increased 
over the period 2011-2016.  Overall, the proportion of young people moving on to a positive 
destination has been above comparable and national averages.  The proportion of young 
people moving on to a positive destination varies greatly across the council’s ten secondary 
schools.  In one school, the proportion entering a positive destination has been significantly 
lower or much lower than comparable and national averages over recent years. 
 
The proportion of young people moving into employment on leaving school is well above 
comparable and national averages and has been consistently so for each of the last five years.  
Schools value the positive relationships that have been developed with Skills Development 
Scotland and consider that the strong partnership that exists has contributed to the increase in 
positive destinations for learners.  The number of young people staying on at school from 
S4 into S5 and then from S5 into S6 is above comparable and national averages.  
 
Staff at various levels expressed concerns about the availability of college placements for 
secondary school pupils across the authority.  The Education Service is working with Further 
Education Colleges to improve their provision of opportunities for young people. 
 
Evidence from inspection 
Over the last three years, evidence from 13 school inspections indicated that: 
 
 all schools were evaluated as satisfactory or better and most schools were evaluated as 

good or better for Learners’ Experiences (QI 2.1); 
 almost all schools were evaluated as satisfactory or better and a majority of schools were 

evaluated as good or better for Improvements in Performance (QI 1.1) and Meeting Learning 
Needs (QI 5.3);  

 the majority of schools were evaluated as satisfactory or better and fewer than half of 
schools were evaluated as good or better for the Curriculum (QI 5.1); and  

                                            
2 ‘Tariff scores’ have been designed for Insight, a national benchmarking tool for attainment.   

Page 22



 

 
5     Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council 
 

 most schools were evaluated as satisfactory or better and fewer than half of schools were 
evaluated as good or better for Improvement through Self-evaluation (QI 5.9). 

 
There is evidence of decline in inspection outcomes over the three year period.  Outcomes from 
the most recent inspections are less positive and have indicated important weaknesses in the 
quality of the curriculum.  
 
Scrutiny by Argyll and Bute Council 
Headteachers report annually on school attainment patterns and performance to elected 
members at Area Education Committee.  A standardised format of report has been developed 
and is now in use.  Secondary headteachers also provide opportunities for local elected 
members to discuss the performance of individual schools.  A range of statistical data for 
primary schools is also presented to the Area Education Committee by the associated Area 
Education Officer.  A few elected members consider that further steps require to be taken to 
ensure a more consistent and rigorous approach to providing the overview of the quality of 
education in each establishment and in making the presentation of attainment data much more 
transparent at both school and authority level.  
 
 

5. How well does the Education Authority meet the 
needs of its stakeholders? 

 
Overall, the extent to which the education authority meets the needs of its stakeholders is 
satisfactory.   
 
Dealing with young people and families entering the council area who need support 
The education authority and its partners in other statutory services meet effectively the needs of 
young people and families who face challenges.  A Professional Learning Community is working 
well to address and support the practical, emotional, educational and social challenges that 
children from Armed Forces families can often face as a result of deployment or mobility.  
Refugee families from Syria have been given a warm welcome and have settled very well within 
their school community as a result of the strong commitment shown by the school and its young 
people.  Children are making very good progress in acquiring English language skills.  Children 
themselves report high levels of wellbeing.  They are successfully making positive friendships 
within their community.  Outcomes for children from these groups are positive. 
 
Getting it Right for Every Child (GIRFEC) 
Argyll and Bute Council has implemented all aspects of the GIRFEC national practice model 
and is continuing to develop and improve it.  At school and council-wide level there are 
well-developed and embedded systems for supporting children and young people.  GIRFEC 
approaches are understood and there are positive examples of effective practice outlined in the 
Care Inspectorate Services for Children and Young People Inspection Report September 2013.  
Opportunities for staff to continue to develop their own professional skills are readily accessible 
on the council website.  Staff working in the ELC sector value the access which they have to 
e-learning.  These opportunities are also impacting positively on the confidence of primary 
school staff to deliver the national practice model for GIRFEC and in improving their planning for 
the individual child and young person.  The Education Service plays a key role in leading the 
development of GIRFEC across Argyll and Bute and through its contribution to the national 
Well-Being Application working group.  Staff and young people have also worked well with 

Page 23



 

 
Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council   6 

partners, including health agencies and Choose Life, to develop guidance to support young 
people at risk of suicide and self-harm. 
 
Children with Additional Support Needs (ASN) 
Current arrangements for allocating ASNs staffing and resources have been drawn up following 
considerable consultation with various stakeholders, including the ASN Review Group which 
includes headteachers, ASN specialists and teaching (and other) unions.  The role of the area 
principal teacher of ASN in allocating resources to support ASN in schools is leading to greater 
fairness and equity.  The total amount of ASN assistant provision increased from August 2015 
to August 2016 and the total amount of time available is allocated on a needs basis against 
specific criteria.  Nevertheless, across the authority many staff report significant challenges in 
ensuring an adequate provision of resources and equipment for children with ASN.  Several 
headteachers are concerned over the changes in ASN staffing allocations in their own schools 
and how this impacts on their ability to meet the requirements of all children’s plans.   
 
Enabling schools to help all children and young people to progress 
Whilst the progress of children and young people at key stages of the primary and secondary 
sectors has some positive aspects, there is no clear trend of improvement and some important 
evidence of decline, particularly at the secondary senior phase, compared to comparable 
averages.  There are positive examples of ELC settings and primary schools creating a 
bespoke curriculum which takes good account of local circumstances and which meets local 
needs and context.  School staff appreciate the input by council officers to help them to develop 
the curriculum appropriately, including during Curriculum Design days.  However, recent 
inspections of a small number of primary schools indicate important weaknesses, overall, in 
curricular provision.  There are wide variations in the curriculum of secondary schools across 
the council.  Whilst it is appropriate that local contexts and circumstances are taken into 
account, this has led to a wide range of practices and differing attainment outcomes for young 
people.  As a result, in some secondary schools, it is not clear how young people achieve their 
entitlement to a broad general education within a curriculum that meets the needs of all.  In 
other schools, stakeholders hold significant and reasonable concerns over the approaches to 
preparing young people for National Qualifications and for the outcomes achieved by pupils. 
 
The council is now beginning to develop a systematic approach to ensuring more robust 
procedures in moderating and sharing a better understanding of standards across all 
establishments within the broad general education phase.  The Education Service now needs to 
consider what key principles and expectations it holds important for every school and to ensure 
that these are monitored and implemented effectively.  Importantly, the Education Service must 
take stronger steps to ensure that young people’s needs are met effectively in all schools and 
that young people are not disadvantaged and under-achieve as a result of curricular models 
being followed.   
 
A significant amount of work has been carried out to support Looked After Children.  
Educational Psychology Services have supported school staff to carry out assessments of the 
reading and spelling abilities of all Looked After Children of primary school age.  This work has 
helped the Education Service to plan suitable strategies for supporting this potentially 
vulnerable group of children. 
 
Working with children, young people and learners outside school 
The Community Learning and Development (CLD) Management Information System shows 
improved outcomes for young people and adult learners.  Young people’s uptake of accredited 
learning with Youth Services has been consistently good each session.  Adults report increased 
levels of confidence as a result of their positive learning engagement with CLD.  There is a 

Page 24



 

 
7     Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council 
 

higher proportion of adults registered for Adult Learning and Literacies provision than for 
comparator authorities.  The number of new adults accessing literacy support through the 
Literacy Service has risen consistently.  
 
Youth Services coordinate an annual Young Leaders’ Programme, engaging young people to 
participate in an accredited training course designed to develop confidence and leadership 
skills.  As part of the programme, Young Leaders are actively involved in facilitating workshops, 
presenting findings to their peers and planning a wide range of activities.  Young people’s 
leadership skills are also developed through partnership with Youth Scotland in Involvement 
Training activities, aimed at promoting greater levels of community involvement and activities.  
 
Listening to children and young people’s views on their learning  
The Education Service has appropriately identified the quality of its engagement with children 
and young people as a key area for improvement.  The extent to which children and young 
people’s views about their learning and about wider matters related to their schooling is heard 
and valued by schools varies too much across the education authority.  In some areas, staff are 
able to identify opportunities for children and young people’s views to be heard and taken into 
account, but, overall there is no consistent mechanism or expectation across the authority.  In 
the best examples, children and young people take an active role in shaping improvements with 
their peers.  Transition projects in some areas have been particularly successful in supporting 
children to make a positive move into their secondary years.  However, children and young 
people’s voice is not encouraged sufficiently strongly or consistently by senior managers across 
all schools.  In some schools, young people have good opportunities to air their thoughts and 
views and to make a difference.  In others, however, children and young people are not 
encouraged sufficiently to give their views nor have sufficient confidence that their views will be 
listened to.  As a result, they are missing valuable opportunities to develop their own leadership 
skills and to act and contribute responsibly. 
 
 

6. How well does the Education Authority deliver 
and improve the quality of its education 
services? 

 
Overall, while there are some strengths in how well the education authority delivers and 
improves the quality of its education services, there are also significant areas for improvement.  
Overall, this area of provision is weak. 

 
Policy and Guidance  
A wide range of policies and guidance for schools in Argyll and Bute was produced between 
2008 and 2016.  These include the Education Service Plan and policy statements on Curriculum 
for Excellence and Personal Learning Planning.  The Argyll and Bute Early Years Strategy 
(draft) is a positive example of a policy that reflects national and local priorities well.  It provides 
helpful guidance to inform practice in ELC settings.  There are good examples of the Early 
Years Strategy policy being embedded in practice.  For example, active play sessions are very 
well received by parents and ‘Bookbug’ sessions are valued highly by staff in helping them to 
improve children’s early literacy skills.  In addition, the Education Service, with its partners, has 
updated a range of policies and guidance for schools in relation to GIRFEC, school exclusions, 
and Looked After Children.  

Page 25



 

 
Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council   8 

Stakeholder involvement in policy development 
Many stakeholders are critical of the council’s arrangements for developing policies and 
communicating with them more generally.  In questionnaires and in focus groups, many school 
based staff noted that they felt they have only limited involvement in quality improvement 
processes and that senior leaders and some centrally-based senior officers did not value their 
opinions.  Senior managers in some schools are not confident that they are given sufficiently 
good opportunities for genuine consultation and that communication with centrally-based 
officers has not always been consistently good enough.  Similarly, over half of centrally-based 
staff who responded to the pre-inspection questionnaire felt that communication amongst staff is 
ineffective and that they do not have good opportunities to get involved in decision-making 
processes.   
 
Building capacity to support improvement 
Important changes have been made across the Education Service to engage headteachers and 
senior staff in improvement activities.  This includes the Secondary Performance Reporting 
Group (now called the Attainment and Achievement Group).  There are also focused sessions 
during headteacher meetings as well as through a range of working groups, some of which are 
chaired by school staff.  These changes were implemented in response to views that 
centrally-based staff, over recent years, had not possessed a secure enough knowledge of their 
schools and their strengths and weaknesses.  Visits to schools by centrally-based officers had 
not been consistently regular or constructively challenging.  As a result, the Education Service 
lacked key information about their schools to enable it to drive improvement.  Senior officers at 
all levels are now beginning to develop more effective systems to gather relevant information to 
support change and improvement.  This will provide greater information and provide more 
reliable information sources and a more accurate basis to consult on Education Service policy 
matters, areas of priority and recommendations through the Community Services Committee.  In 
so doing, it is important to ensure that future strategic planning frameworks clearly and fully 
reflect current and future financial and resourcing challenges facing the service.  
 
Involving staff in implementation of policy 
A number of internal forums and working groups have been set up to support the 
implementation of Curriculum for Excellence.  There is promising work being undertaken by the 
Literacy forum, assessment forum, health and wellbeing group, budget working group and ASN 
working group.  These groups, along with a range of other vehicles, are now involving staff in 
the development and implementation of policy and changes.  As part of the ‘tackling 
bureaucracy workload review’ undertaken by Education Scotland in August 2016, collegiate 
working was identified as a key strength of the Education Service.  The numeracy forum had not 
been in a position to meet for a period of time and, as a result, development in this important 
area has been slower than planned.  It is therefore difficult to establish the impact made by this 
particular group in improving outcomes for children and young people, or in improving the 
quality of learning and teaching in numeracy across the authority.   
 
Use of performance data to drive improvement 
As part of the council’s efforts to raise attainment, all schools are developing an increasing 
awareness of the use of the Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation information in relation to the 
children and young people enrolled in each establishment.  This is helping to inform schools 
about children and young people who require further support to achieve to their potential.  As 
identified, the Education Service should now take further steps to ensure all staff are sufficiently 
clear about the authority’s expectation for measuring and closing the poverty related attainment 
gap. 
 

Page 26



 

 
9     Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council 
 

The Education Service has an appropriate focus on tracking the attainment of particular groups 
of young people, including those for whom English is an Additional Language and those from 
Ministry of Defence (MOD) families.  The council recognises the need to improve the attainment 
and achievement of young people who are looked after by the authority.  As a result of the 
council’s more focused and targeted approach to early intervention for more vulnerable children 
and young people, there has been a decline in the number of young people placed outwith the 
council.   
 
Individual school profiles, including the council’s standards and quality reports need to make 
better and more consistent use of all available data, to provide a more accurate and meaningful 
benchmark of progress and improvement.  Too often such reports only reference progress in 
relation to national averages which, whilst helpful, provide an incomplete picture. 
 
The authority needs to audit its data sources and review its use of data to provide a framework 
which allows it to measure performance better and to help it to challenge schools more robustly.  
There is headroom for improvement in the authority’s approaches to assessment across all 
sectors to ensure that the resulting data is valid and reliable, informs priorities and achieves 
targets set for raising attainment and wider achievements.  
 
 

7. How well is the Education Authority led? 
 
Overall, while there are some strengths in how well the education authority is led, there are also 
significant areas for improvement.  Overall, this area of provision is weak. 
 
Strategic Vision 
Argyll and Bute Community Services commenced work on its new vision for education, Our 
Children, Their Future, in December 2015.  With its focus on ambition, excellence and equality it 
appropriately reflects local and national priorities.  While the council consulted stakeholders in 
developing its vision, this has not always been shared effectively by all senior school leaders, 
education staff and wider stakeholders.  This has resulted in the vision not being adequately 
understood or ‘owned’ by education staff and key stakeholders, including children, young 
people, parents and the wider community.  The council now needs to ensure that its vision is 
fully understood and embedded in practice.  Some senior officers have been in post for less 
than a year and recognise that implementation of the vision requires more direct contact with 
establishments to meet staff and discuss the authority’s aspirations.  The acting Executive 
Director acknowledged that the new vision now required to be fully implemented including 
providing reassurance that all stakeholders were actively involved in this implementation. 
 
Leadership of the Education Authority 
The Chief Executive has a comprehensive knowledge of the Education Service and has 
appointed senior education staff who work hard to make improvements.  Senior leaders are 
playing an increasing role in corporate planning and are working within very tight timescales to 
develop and improve service planning in their respective areas.  These timescales in some 
cases, are constraining the level of consultation with headteachers which would support the 
necessary ownership and ‘buy in’ for change.  The senior leadership team has begun to put in 
place new support structures and strengthened planning.  They recognise the developments are 
at the very early stages of implementation and the links between strategic planning and 
operational planning are not yet impacting sufficiently on service delivery.   
  

Page 27



 

 
Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council   10 

Strategic approaches to learning, teaching and curriculum development 
There is a need for clearer strategic direction in a number of areas including learning and 
teaching and curriculum development.  Planned developments to address these concerns are 
underway and there are promising signs that these have the potential to make a positive impact.  
The ASN review group has been in existence for almost two years and has delivered a number 
of improvements and updates to policies and procedures.   
 
Corporate ethos  
The new education vision and strategy presents good opportunities for leaders at all levels to 
work together more effectively to develop better cohesion and a genuine sense of shared vision 
and purpose.  Overall, there are important weaknesses in communication, ethos and values 
across the Education Service.  Strongly critical messages about these issues have been 
conveyed through interviews, focus groups and pre-inspection questionnaires.  Strategic 
leaders need to continue with their approaches to address the concerns relating to staff isolation 
and poor morale.  The shared heads group, mentoring of newly appointed heads and 
probationer and middle leadership networks can support this.  Levels of trust between school 
and centrally-based staff, though improving, are not yet strong enough.  Leaders, at all levels, 
need to work together more effectively to develop greater cohesion and a genuine sense of 
shared vision and purpose.   
 
Planned measures are in place to address a number of concerns over communication, 
including, through the role of the new education officers.  While communication of strategic 
information within the Education Service is facilitated by various means, including the use of 
Sharepoint and HUB, meetings and bulletins, senior leaders recognise that a stronger, clearer 
and more comprehensive communication strategy is now required.   
 
Headteachers as senior leaders of learning 
Senior officers have contributed to headteacher meetings and to professional learning events to 
outline the authority’s aspirations.  They have not yet developed a clear policy framework on key 
aspects of learning and teaching to enable staff to work more consistently towards meeting the 
aspirations of the vision.  More remains to be done to clarify to all staff in educational 
establishments, and particularly headteachers, their role in collaborative and partnership 
working, and the potential benefits for learners and their families.  Senior leaders recognise that 
headteachers and centrally-based officers need to work together more effectively and with 
greater accountability to share and improve strategic leadership and direction.  Several 
headteachers lack confidence in current arrangements for their own professional review and 
development.  A few headteachers have not had sufficient opportunities to benefit from 
one-to-one meetings with their line manager over recent years.  This has contributed to a sense 
of isolation and a lack of confidence that their work is appropriately known or recognised.  As a 
result, they are not always sure of their own level of performance.   
 
Leadership at all levels 
In developing effective leadership at all levels, staff benefit from a suitable range of 
opportunities to develop their professional skills and competencies.  The Education Service 
provides relevant and well-received opportunities for staff at all levels to engage in professional 
learning opportunities to develop leadership skills and have established a structure that helps to 
Grow Our Own in Argyll and Bute.  The service’s Leadership Strategy Framework has raised 
the profile of the leadership agenda within Argyll and Bute.  A middle leadership group (Argyll 
and Bute Educational Leadership) supports practitioners and links directly with the University of 
the Highlands and Islands leadership modules.  As part of the authority’s leadership strategy 
and support for the Scottish College for Education Leadership Fellowship programme, a strong 
middle leadership network supports leaders with self-evaluation within their own context.  

Page 28



 

 
11     Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council 
 

Newly-appointed headteachers participate in a comprehensive support programme.  An 
effective programme is in place to support newly qualified teachers.  Arrangements for training 
leaders of assessment and moderation are working well.  There are some positive examples of 
collegiality amongst the ‘shared headteacher’ group, providing helpful leadership support and 
guidance for those starting a shared headship post.  There are a few positive examples of 
school staff taking forward useful initiatives through engaging with SQA subject development 
days.  The service should now review approaches to continued professional development 
ensuring staffing and financial constraints do not prevent participation. 
 
Linking leadership activities to the Strategic Vision 
The Education Service now needs to continue to develop stronger, more coordinated and 
consistent leadership at all levels of the service.  There is a need to ensure that leaders are 
clear about their roles, responsibilities and accountabilities and that the Education Service’s 
structure supports the priorities set out in Our Children, their Future.  Whilst there is a strong 
commitment to devolve greater leadership and management to schools there is room to build on 
the very focused set of linked strategies with the aim of improving attainment and achievement.  
Alongside a stronger strategic drive drawing together disparate approaches and initiatives, there 
is a need to strengthen the challenge to schools to set meaningful achievement targets and to 
find imaginative local solutions through more extensive and focused partnership working.   
 
Strategic approaches to risk 
The council has appropriate arrangements to manage strategic risk.  A corporate risk register is 
in place, which is updated appropriately.  Further work is needed to raise the profile of risk 
management at an operational and school level.  While there has been recent professional 
learning on the management of risk for headteachers, there is a need to extend this to improve 
their understanding of risk in relation to improvement and performance.  Complaints procedures 
are well managed with a clear logging and monitoring process in place.  Complaint deadlines 
are overtaken in over 90% of occasions.  The Education Service is currently staffed by a 
number of ‘acting’ posts and secondments.  This has contributed to uncertainty for senior staff in 
terms of their role and responsibilities and to those staff line managed by senior colleagues in 
an ‘acting’ capacity.  Headteachers, middle leaders, teachers and parents are concerned about 
what they view as significant staffing issues across the authority.  This is a significant area of 
risk.  The Education Service has been proactive in responding to national staffing issues.  
These issues have been raised through formal papers to Community Services Committee 
outlining a wide range of ambitious approaches to securing posts to the authority.   
 
School estate 
There is a clear political statement about school closures and shared headships within the 
authority.  Unless a school has no pupils registered, the council would not consider that school 
for closure.  There is also a clear policy position in relation to shared headships approved by 
committee in 2015.  Overall, communities feel that the authority now has a deeper 
understanding of the needs of small rural communities, but stakeholders recognise that there is 
tension and competition between the rural and more highly populated areas when resources are 
tight.  There continues to be tensions across the council around the provision for small, rural 
schools and their sustainability. 
 
  

Page 29



 

 
Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council   12 

Leadership of Change and Improvement 
Overall, while there are some strengths in how well the education authority leads the change 
and improvement of its education services, there are also important areas for improvement.  
Overall, this area of provision is weak. 
 
The pace of change in recent years has been too slow in terms of strategic planning for 
improvement and change.  This has had an adverse impact on the quality of strategic planning 
for improvement and change in the service.  Planning and reporting systems are not yet 
sufficiently well developed or fully effective to ensure the change and improvement needed.  
Senior leaders at all levels need to provide more effective guidance and strategic direction in 
order to take forward improvements within a realistic pace of change.  In doing so, senior 
leaders, elected members and headteachers need to ensure that they involve all their 
stakeholders in order to engender a positive culture where everyone feels valued but which 
recognises that they are all accountable for and have a role to play in driving improvement.  By 
doing this, staff at all levels would feel more confident to initiate and support change and 
improvements.   
 
In recent months, the Education Service, under a new management team, has started to make 
improvements in its arrangements for strategic planning for improvement and change.  Senior 
council officers are supporting elected members to undertake their respective scrutiny and 
challenge roles, including, for example, submitting and presenting relevant papers to the 
Community Services Committee.  There is some optimism in schools and within the central 
team that recent senior appointments will have a more positive impact on the performance of 
the central team. 
 
In her short time in post, the acting Executive Director has made a promising start in improving 
approaches to planning for improvement and change.  This involves, for example, addressing 
areas of inequity of provision, sometimes historic, across the council and beginning to develop a 
clearer insight into the quality of provision.   
 
The acting Executive Director has taken some positive steps to improve approaches to 
self-evaluation and planning for improvement and change.  These very recent changes to 
quality improvement arrangements, while providing better clarity, are not yet sufficiently 
embedded to bring about improved outcomes for children and young people.  Senior leaders 
are confident that the level of support and challenge provided by centrally-based officers to 
schools has now improved.  There is also a recognition that more needs to be done to build 
leadership capacity at all levels.  School improvement planning formats have recently been 
refreshed to respond to local and national policy.  Some staff have welcomed the new 
approaches and believe that they have the potential to improve the quality of children’s and 
young people’s learning and achievements.  Several headteachers, however, have concerns 
over the consultation arrangements and timescales for implementation of these new materials.  
 
Leading and supporting improvement 
There are examples of effective practice in terms of support and challenge leading to 
improvements.  These involve individual council officers.  The early years service has effective 
systems in place which promote improvement through regular quality improvement support and 
challenge visits which impact positively on change across Argyll and Bute.  Other successful 
examples include developing the young workforce (DYW) and work with the MOD.  Youth 
workers have a higher profile as a result of Youth Services now being aligned with Education 
Services.  They are now more highly valued by headteachers and aid support and improvement, 
for example, through advising on youth voice, youth information, Internet safety and sexual 
health.  There are a few positive and very early signs that both services are beginning to use 

Page 30



 

 
13     Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council 
 

data and develop some systems to gather intelligence to help improve strategic 
decision-making.   
 
Partnerships with other stakeholders 
Various partnerships help support improvement and change and add value.  These include the 
Integrated Children’s Services and CLD partnerships.  In these partnerships, staff are highly 
involved in decision-making and support the change and improvement agenda.  There are some 
very positive examples of partnership working with the MOD and naval families and this is 
adding value and improving outcomes for children and their families.  School staff and children 
involved in the Scottish Attainment Challenge benefit from partnership working with external 
partners, including Education Scotland, for example, in terms of raising pupils’ attainment and 
achievement.   
 
The Argyll and Bute Employability Partnership works well to help improve links between 
education, employability and employment to support economic growth within Argyll and Bute.  
Information from the Compelling Argyll and Bute study was published in autumn 2015 and the 
detailed analysis informed the Single Outcome Agreement (SOA) and Community Planning 
Partnership actions for the next ten years.  Useful information contained in the study resulted in 
a review of the Youth Employment Activity Plan, including agreed actions.  Other positive 
examples include multi-agency and partnership working with social work, health, police and the 
Scottish Children’s Reporter Administration which is helping to support the GIRFEC agenda.  
 
Collaboration at cluster level 
There are examples at local cluster level where staff work well together, add value and improve 
outcomes for children and young people, for example, through learning technologies and the 
literacy forum.  The early years partners provider group have positive partnerships with the 
authority which helps improve their service.  Effective partnerships within the community 
child-minding initiative improve outcomes for vulnerable children and their families.  The 
Parental Involvement Strategy offers staff and others useful advice on implementing family 
engagement activities.  For example, the Tarbert Cluster Family Engagement Project and Home 
Start Magic in Rothesay which supports children from pre-birth to eight years of age.   
 
The council currently, through the work of the Community Planning Partnership, has an agreed 
shared vision which is further articulated within the SOA and within the new education strategy 
and vision.  The council acknowledges that while the implementation of the new education 
vision is still at the early stages, it is confident that there is a suitable range of performance 
indicators in place to measure and report on improving outcomes for children and young people.  
 
Arrangements are in place to share practice both within the authority and across other 
education authorities.  Examples include, leadership development with East Dunbartonshire 
Council and early stage developments with Western Isles Council on Gaelic curriculum 
development and moderation. 
 
Elected members 
Despite some evidence of improvement, poor relationships between some centrally-based staff, 
headteachers and a few elected members remain an on-going issue and present challenges to 
improvement.  Relationships with a few councillors and other elected representatives are 
strained and, at times, unnecessarily adversarial.  There is still significant room for improvement 
in relationships and in the morale of staff, overall.  Elected members, all strategic managers and  
  

Page 31



 

 
Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council   14 

senior leaders now need to work closely with a range of staff, including headteachers, to 
improve significantly the culture across the council.   
 
A broad range of performance information is routinely presented to elected members covering 
all aspects of the service.  This includes quarterly performance reports against measures 
contained in the service plan, attainment and achievement data on a school by school basis, 
teacher staffing standards, DYW performance measures and data related to attendance, 
absence and exclusions  
 
Whilst the performance information shared with elected members is helpful, a few feel it is not 
yet sufficiently rigorous or transparent.  As a result, they do not yet have sufficient information to 
enable them to know what is working well and what needs to be improved.  In terms of 
improvement and change, there is a need for the Education Service to make better and more 
consistently transparent, use of data to secure continued improvements and to raise attainment 
for children and young people across the authority.   
 
 

8. What is the Education Authority’s capacity for 
improvement? 

 
There are significant challenges identified in this report.  Whilst there are a number of strengths 
in the educational provision across Argyll and Bute, there is considerable work required to 
address the challenges and build a corporate ethos for improvement across all stakeholders. 
 
Educational Assets of Argyll and Bute Education Authority 
In almost all ELC settings, children are making good progress in meeting expected milestones 
of progress.  A high proportion of all young people move on to a positive destination from almost 
every secondary school.  Many of these young people have attained appropriately in national 
examinations and have received recognition for their wider achievements and interests.  Strong 
partnerships with other organisations help the Education Service to meet the needs of children 
and young people, including those who are vulnerable.  Good practice exists at authority and 
individual establishment level across each of the authority’s four administrative areas and the 
care and commitment of staff at every level helps children and young people to learn within a 
safe and welcoming environment.   
 
Areas for improvement in Argyll and Bute Education Authority 
There are significant and important areas for improvement and these diminish learners’ 
experiences.  The pace of change and improvement has been too slow.  The quality and 
consistency of curricular experiences provided for children and young people in schools across 
the authority vary significantly.  There is strong evidence of a decline in important aspects of 
young people’s attainment.  Overall, young people attain less well compared to learners with 
similar needs and backgrounds across the rest of the country.  The morale of many staff, 
including headteachers and centrally-based officers, is low and relationships between staff and 
elected members can sometimes be challenging.  The vision and level of expectation of the 
council and its senior centrally-based staff has not always been shared sufficiently well with 
wider groups of stakeholders.  There is a lack of confidence in strategic leadership amongst 
centrally-based staff, headteachers, some elected members and parents.  It is acknowledged 
that the recruitment of staff in such a widely dispersed geographical area is challenging.  There 
are promising recent signs of greater stability in staffing and some staff are now more optimistic 
that recent appointments will make a positive impact leading to improvement.  

Page 32



 

 
15     Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council 
 

What happens next? 
 
The education authority now needs to take urgent and sustained action to address the 
significant areas for improvement identified throughout this report to ensure the development of 
its education provision and increase positive outcomes for learners across Argyll and Bute. 
 
Given the need for urgent and sustained action, Education Scotland will provide support and 
monitor the council’s progress towards improvement.  Education Scotland will carry out a further 
inspection visit within three months of the publication of this report to monitor progress.  We will 
also carry out a further visit within six months and we will then publish a further report that 
outlines progress that has been made.   
 
 
Key strengths 
 
 The proportion of young people who move on from school to a positive destination. 
 The contributions of the Early Years Team and the Educational Psychology Service in 

delivering a strong foundation and support for children’s learning. 
 The positive and wide range of partnerships which help staff to meet learners’ needs, 

particularly those of MOD families and refugees.  
 
 
Main points for action 
 
The education authority should: 
 
 significantly improve young people’s attainment across the authority; 
 improve the use of data, ensuring greater rigour; 
 continue to improve the quality of educational provision with consistently higher levels of 

support and challenge from central officers and elected members; 
 improve relationships and communication, promoting a more positive ethos amongst all 

stakeholders; and 
 improve the quality of strategic leadership and direction at all levels within the education 

authority. 
 
 
 
Alistair Brown 
HM Inspector  
21 March 2017 

 
 
  

Page 33



 

 
Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council   16 

Appendix 1  
 
Quality indicators 

 
 

Quality indicator Evaluation 

QI 1.1 Improvements in performance weak 

QI 2.1 Impact on children, young people, adult 
learners and families 

satisfactory 

QI 5.1 Delivering and improving the quality of services weak 

QI 9.2 Leadership and direction weak 

QI 9.4 Leadership of change and improvement weak 

 
 
  

Page 34



 

 
17     Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council 
 

Appendix 2 
 
Meetings with stakeholders 
 
HM Inspectors met with a wide range of officers and stakeholders, including: 
 
 Chief Executive  

 Senior officers attending initial scoping meeting  

 Council Leader  

 Local elected representatives (5), including members of the Community Services Committee 
and Policy Lead for Education  

 Acting Executive Director of Community Services  

 Acting Head of Service (Education)  

 Cluster meeting of primary school headteachers in Islay and Jura cluster  

 Oban: DYW focus group  

 Oban: Drug and Alcohol Partnership focus group  

 Oban: Youth Engagement focus group  

 Performance focus group  

 CLD Partnership group  

 Cluster meeting of primary school headteachers/senior staff in Oban cluster  

 Oban: Pathways Curriculum Group  

 CLD Local Youth Forum group and youth worker  

 Group of parents who access family learning services and ELC provision  

 Early Learning Centre - partner providers group  

 Early Learning Centre officers based in Oban  

 Area Principal Teachers and GIRFEC adviser focus group  

 Rothesay Joint Campus: Meetings with Counsellor, Skills Development Scotland, School 
Nurse, Refugee Support Worker, Achievement Bute, Community Learning Manager, Adult 
Learning Worker and Adult Literacies Worker   

 Bute Refugee Group: Syrian refugee families and translator   

 Cluster meeting of primary school headteachers/senior staff in Cowal cluster  

 Mid Argyll Shared Headship focus group  

 DYW multi-agency group  

 Education Officer group  

 Education Management Team Meeting  

 Newly appointed headteachers group  

Page 35



 

 
Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council   18 

 Numeracy group  

 Health and Wellbeing group  

 Gaelic and ASN group 

 Education Manager: Performance and Improvement  

 Secondary curriculum design meeting  

 Representatives from the Language 1+2 working group  

 Mid Argyll moderation facilitators 

 Middle leadership group  

 Principal Educational Psychologist and other educational psychologists  

 Meeting of primary school headteachers in Helensburgh and Lomond cluster  

 MOD Family Support Workers  

 Literacy forum  

 Learning Technologies group  

 Community childminder  

 Michael Russell MSP 

 Jackie Baillie MSP (telephone) 
 

Visits  
 
Visits to schools which involved meetings with various stakeholder groups, including learners, 
staff (teachers, learning support assistants, support staff, senior leadership teams and 
headteachers), parents and other partners.  
 

 Islay High School 

 Port Charlotte Primary School 

 Bowmore Primary School  

 Hermitage Academy 

 Rosneath Primary School 

 Kilcreggan Primary School 

 Oban High School 

 Tobermory High School (video link) 

 Park Primary School, Oban 

 Rothesay Joint Campus 

 Dunoon Grammar School 

 St Mun’s Primary School 

 Tarbert Academy 

Page 36



 

 
19     Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council 
 

 Campbeltown Grammar School 

 Inveraray Primary School 

  

Page 37



 

 
Inspection of the Education Functions of Local Authorities: Argyll and Bute Council   20 

Appendix 3   
 
Quality indicators – the six point scale  
 
An evaluation of excellent applies to provision which is a model of its type.  Learners’ 
experiences and achievements are of a very high quality.  An evaluation of excellent represents 
an outstanding standard of provision which exemplifies very best practice and is worth 
disseminating beyond the council.  It implies these very high levels of performance are 
sustainable and will be maintained.  
 
An evaluation of very good applies to provision characterised by major strengths.  There are 
very few areas for improvement and any that do exist do not significantly diminish learners’ 
experiences.  While an evaluation of very good represents a high standard of provision, it is a 
standard that should be achievable by all.  It implies that it is fully appropriate to continue to 
make provision without significant adjustment.  However, there is an expectation that the council 
will take opportunities to improve and strive to raise performance to excellent.  
 
An evaluation of good applies to provision characterised by important strengths which, taken 
together, clearly outweigh any areas for improvement.  An evaluation of good represents a 
standard of provision in which the strengths have a significant positive impact.  However, the 
quality of learners’ experiences is diminished in some way by aspects in which improvement is 
required.  It implies that the council should seek to improve further the areas of important 
strength, but take action to address the areas for improvement.  
 
An evaluation of satisfactory applies to provision characterised by strengths which just 
outweigh weaknesses.  An evaluation of satisfactory indicates that learners have access to a 
basic level of provision.  It represents a standard where the strengths have a positive impact on 
learners’ experiences.  However, while the weaknesses will not be important enough to have a 
substantially adverse impact, they will constrain the overall quality of learners’ experiences.  It 
implies that the council should take action to address areas of weakness while building on its 
strengths. 
 
An evaluation of weak applies to provision which has some strengths, but where there are 
important weaknesses.  In general, an evaluation of weak may be arrived at in a number of 
circumstances.  While there may be some strengths, the important weaknesses will, either 
individually or collectively, be sufficient to diminish learners’ experiences in substantial ways.  It 
implies the need for structured and planned action on the part of the council.  
 
An evaluation of unsatisfactory applies when there are major weaknesses in provision 
requiring immediate remedial action.  Learners’ experience is at risk in significant respects.  In 
almost all cases, staff responsible for provision evaluated as unsatisfactory will require support 
from senior managers in planning and carrying out the necessary actions to effect improvement.  
This may involve working alongside staff from other departments or agencies in or beyond the 
council. 

Page 38



 

 

Education Scotland 
Denholm House 
Almondvale Business Park 
Almondvale Way 
Livingston, EH54 6GA 
 
 
T +44 (0)131 244 4330 
E enquiries@educationscotland.gov.uk 
 
 
www.education.gov.scot 
 
© Crown Copyright, 2017  
 
You may re-use this information (excluding images and logos) free of charge in any 
format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence providing that it is 
reproduced accurately and not in a misleading context.  The material must be 
acknowledged as Education Scotland copyright and the document title specified.  
 
To view this licence, visit http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence or 
e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 
 
Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain 
permission from the copyright holders concerned. 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
 

COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE

COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

6 APRIL 2017

 
INSPECTION OF THE EDUCATION FUNCTIONS OF ARGYLL AND BUTE 

COUNCIL (INEA): 
RESPONSE TO THE INSPECTION 

 
 

 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
 1.1 The main purpose of this report is to advise Community Services 

Committee of the outcome of planned inspection of the Education 
functions of Argyll and Bute Council. The report presents an 
overview of the inspection process, the final inspection outcomes 
and, importantly the action being taken by the Authority to address 
the main recommendations contained within the report. 
 

 1.2 Education Scotland notified the Chief Executive of the Council  
that an announced inspection of the Education functions of the 
Council by Education Scotland would take place week commencing 
the  19th September 2016, with an anticipated conclusion with the 
publication of a public report by the end of November 2016. 
 

 1.3 Section 9 of the 'Standards in Scotland's Schools etc. Act 2000' 
charges Education Scotland (formerly HM Inspectorate of 
Education) on behalf of the Scottish Ministers, to provide an external 
evaluation of the effectiveness of the local authority in its quality 
assurance of educational provision within the Council and of its 
support to schools in improving the quality of education. 
 

 1.4 Evaluation of the effectiveness of the Education functions of the 
Council were based on a framework of quality indicators (published 
in Quality Management in Education 2), which embody the 
Government's policy on Best Value. The framework is based on six 
high level questions which can be answered by evaluating the 
quality of education across ten Key areas. A selected number of 
revised quality indicators contained within QMIE 2 (revised June 
2016) were used throughout the inspection. 
 

 1.5 Education Scotland published the final inspection report on 21 
March 2017, six month after the commencement of the inspection. 
Whilst the report presents a number of strengths of the core 
education functions of the Council there are a number of highly 
negative aspects to the report.  
 

 1.6 It is recommended that the Community Services Committee:  

Page 41 Agenda Item 3d



 

  a) Note the inspection report published by Education Scotland on 
21 March 2017  following their inspection of the Education 
functions of the Council; 

  b) Note the content of the inspection report which highlights the 
key strengths and main points for action for the Education 
Authority; 

  c) Note the action taken by the Authority in responding to the main 
points for actions following the conclusion of the inspection in 
September 2016; 

  d) Agree the development and implementation of a significant 
action plan by Education Services in response to the main 
points for action arising from the report, and 

  e) Request the Executive Director, Community Service to bring 
further reports on the progress in addressing the main points for 
action to future meetings of the Committee.  

 
 
  
   
   

   
   
   

 
 

   
   
   
   
   
   

 
  
 
  
   

Page 42



 

 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
 

COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE

COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

6  APRIL 2017

 
 

INSPECTION OF THE EDUCATION FUNCTIONS OF ARGYLL AND BUTE 
COUNCIL (INEA): 

RESPONSE TO THE INSPECTION 
 
 

 
2.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
 2.1 

 
The main purpose of this report is to advise Community Services 
Committee of the outcome of planned inspection of the Education 
functions of Argyll and Bute Council. The report presents an overview 
of the inspection process, the final inspection outcomes and, 
importantly the action being taken by the Authority to address the main 
recommendations contained within the report. 
 

 2.2 
 

Education Scotland notified the Chief Executive of the Council  
that an announced inspection of the Education functions of the Council 
by Education Scotland would take place week commencing the 19th 
September 2016, with an anticipated conclusion with the publication of 
a public report by the end of November 2016. 
 

 2.3 
 

Section 9 of the 'Standards in Scotland's Schools etc. Act 2000' 
charges Education Scotland (formerly HM Inspectorate of Education) 
on behalf of the Scottish Ministers, to provide an external evaluation of 
the effectiveness of the local authority in its quality assurance of 
educational provision within the Council and of its support to schools 
in improving the quality of education. 
 

 2.4 
 

Evaluation of the effectiveness of the Education functions of the 
Council were based on a framework of quality indicators (published in 
Quality Management in Education 2), which embody the 
Government's policy on Best Value. The framework is based on six 
high level questions which can be answered by evaluating the quality 
of education across ten Key areas. A selected number of revised 
quality indicators contained within QMIE 2 (revised June 2016) were 
used throughout the inspection. 
 

 2.5 Education Scotland published the final inspection report on 21 March 
2017 (Appendix 1), six month after the commencement of the 
inspection. Whilst the report presents a number of strengths of the 
core Education functions of the Council there are a number of highly 
negative aspects to the report. 

   

Page 43



 

3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 It is recommended that the Community Services Committee: 
 a) Note the inspection report published by Education Scotland on 21 

March 2017  following their inspection of the Education functions of the 
Council; 

 b) Note the content of the inspection report which highlights the key 
strengths and main points for action for the Education Authority; 

 c) Note the action taken by the Authority in responding to the main points 
for actions following the conclusion of the inspection in September 
2016; 

 d) Agree the development and implementation of a significant action plan 
by Education Services in response to the main points for action arising 
from the report, and 

 e) Request the Executive Director, Community Service to bring further 
reports on the progress in addressing the main points for action to 
future meetings of the Committee 
 

4.0 DETAIL 
 

 4.1 The inspection footprint was conducted by Education Scotland over 
the course of five days: 19th - 23rd September 2016.  

The inspection set out to answer the following questions: 
 What key outcomes has the education authority achieved? 
 How well are the needs of stakeholders being met? 
 How well does the Education Authority deliver and improve the 

quality of its education services? 
 How good is the quality of strategic leadership and direction?, 

and 
 What is the Education Authority’s capacity for improvement? 

 
 4.2 A number of selected updated quality indicators were evaluated 

against the six-point scale. As a core part of the inspection the 
Authority submitted their self-evaluation against these five quality 
indicators.  
 

  The following table illustrates the evaluations made by the Authority, 
compared with the Education Scotland evaluations. 
 

  Quality Indicator Argyll and 
Bute 
Evaluation 

Education 
Scotland 
Evaluation 

QI 1.1: Improvements in 
performance 

Satisfactory Weak 

QI 2.1: Impact on children, 
young people, adult learners 
and families 

Satisfactory Satisfactory 

QI 5.1: Delivering and 
improving the quality of 
services 

Satisfactory Weak 

Page 44



 

QI 9.2: Leadership and 
direction 

Satisfactory Weak 

QI 9.4 Leadership of change 
and improvement 

Satisfactory Weak 

 
 

 4.3 
 

Main findings of the inspection report. 
The main findings of the inspection included an assessment of the key 
strengths and main points for action for the Authority arising from the 
inspection. These are: 
 

 4.4 Key Strengths: 
   The proportion of young people who move on from school to a 

positive destination; 
 The contributions of the Early Years Team and the Educational 

Psychology Service in delivering a strong foundation and support 
for children’s learning, and  

 The positive and wide range of partnerships which help staff to 
meet learners’ needs, particularly those of MOD families and 
refugees. 

 
 4.5 In addition to the main strengths the published report confirms a range 

of good or effective practice across areas of the Education Service 
including: 
 

   The achievement of children and young people across Argyll 
and Bute reflects a broad range of national awards and award 
bearing wider achievement qualifications; 

 Over 1500 young people last session achieved across a broad 
range of awards including the Duke of Edinburgh’s Award, 
John Muir, Saltire and Youth Achievement Awards; 

 In almost all early learning and childcare (ELC) settings, most 
children achieve their expected developmental milestones; 

 The number of young people securing a positive destination on 
leaving school has increased over the period 2011-2016; 

 Argyll and Bute has implemented all aspects of the Getting it 
Right for Every Child (GIRFEC) practice model and is 
continuing to develop and improve it… the Education Service 
plays a key role on leading the development of GIRFEC across 
Argyll and Bute and through its contribution to the national 
Well-Being Application working group; 

 A significant amount of work has been carried out to support 
Looked After Children; 

 There are good examples of the Early Years Strategy policy 
being embedded in practice; 

 Important changes have been made across the Education 
Service to engage head teachers and senior staff in 
improvement activities. This includes the Secondary 
Performance Reporting group (now called the Achievement 
and Attainment Group), and 

Page 45



 

 A number of internal forums and working groups have been set 
up to support the implementation of Curriculum for Excellence 

 
 4.6 Main points for action: 

 Significantly improve young people’s attainment across the 
authority; 

 Improve the use of data, ensuring greater rigour; 
 Continue to improve the quality of educational provision with 

consistently higher levels of support and challenge from central 
officers and elected members; 

 Improve relationships and communication, promoting a more 
positive ethos amongst all stakeholders; and 

 Improve the quality of strategic leadership and direction at all 
levels within the Education Authority.  

 
 4.7 In addressing the main points for action Education Services will take 

full account of further comments contained within the published report 
responding through a range of strategic interventions. These are 
incorporated into an initial draft action plan (as noted within section 
4.10 of this report). The identified interventions include: 

   Developing the remit and focus of the Head Teacher Advisory 
Group to support improved communication, engagement and 
relationships between the Authority and Schools; 

 Taking further steps to increase the overall proportion of children 
and young people who achieve in line with national expectation in 
Literacy and Numeracy; 

 Taking further steps to increase the overall proportion of children 
and young people who achieve in line with national expectation in 
Gaelic Medium education; 

 Implementing revised approaches to ensure overall improvement 
in levels of attainment for Senior Phase pupils across all SQA 
examination levels; 

 Monitoring curriculum models across each of the ten secondary 
schools to ensure the average tariff scores for all Argyll and Bute  
young people are increased, as appropriate; 

 Prepare, in consultation with schools, a curriculum principals, 
entitlements and expectations paper for use by all schools; 

 Ensure staff at all levels are sufficiently clear about the Authority’s 
expectation for measuring and closing the poverty related 
attainment gap; 

 Providing increasingly effective support to schools in the use of 
data to improve achievement and attainment for all children and 
young people; 

 Further refine the approach to support and challenge visits to all 
authority schools to ensure the needs of all pupils are being 
effectively met; 

 Further refining the Authority Standards and Quality Report to 
ensure better and more consistent use of all available data and to 
make more accurate benchmarks of progress and improvement;  

Page 46



 

 Reviewing and updating the Authority Parental Involvement 
Strategy to ensure greater engagement and communication with 
parents and carers, and 

 Further improving the effectiveness of school support visits to 
ensure greater consistency and challenge to all schools. 

 
 4.8 The priority for the Education Service will be to retain our focus on 

delivering high quality services that improve outcomes for all of our 
children and young people. The Education Vision and Strategy: “Our 
Children, Their Future” is a key part of this. We note and welcome 
that the main points for action recommended in the Education 
Scotland report are in line with the aims of the new Education Vision 
and Strategy.   
 

 4.9 Since the inspection visit in September 2016 a number of 
improvements actions have been taken forward by Education 
Services. These include: 

   The significant work of the Service in preparing and publishing 
the revised Education Vision and Strategy: Our Children, Their 
Future, with a clear focus on ambition, excellence and equality 
reflecting local and national priorities;  

 A conclusion of the “tackling bureaucracy workload review” 
undertaken by Education Scotland in August 2016 identified 
the “Impact of assessment and moderation facilitators” as a 
key strength of the Authority; 

 The role of centrally employed officers have been revised to 
provide increased support for schools and early years 
settings. This includes advice in curriculum areas such as 
literacy, numeracy and science, technology, engineering and 
mathematics (STEM); 

 The appointment of two additional Principal Teachers, to 
support the development and improvement of Literacy and 
Numeracy of pupils across all schools in the Authority; 

 A Head Teacher Advisory Group has been introduced with the 
main purpose of improving communication and engagement 
between schools and the Authority; 

 Further improvements have been made to communication 
with schools and services through the publication of regular 
education bulletins; 

 Curriculum guidance materials have been updated and made 
accessible to all staff through the Sharing Argyll Learning 
(SAL) site. These are designed to support staff in taking 
forward learning and teaching;  

 A new approach to reviewing school examination results was 
introduced in September 2016. This is focused on increasing 
the use data to improve outcomes for learners; 

 Improvement planning materials for use by schools in session 
17/18 are currently being revised in consultation with Head 
Teachers, and 

 Further development of collaborative working arrangements 

Page 47



 

with other Local Authorities which focus on improvement and 
sharing of practice to support the raising of standards across 
services and schools. 
 

 4.10 
 

Further work has been undertaken in preparing an initial action plan 
which outlines the range of actions undertaken by Education Services 
to date (Appendix 1) to respond to the range of improvement priorities 
arising from the inspection report.  
 

 4.11 Following consideration and agreement of Community Services 
Committee the action plan will be further revised and updated. It is 
important to note that all improvement actions currently included in the 
plan will be developed in full consultation with Service Managers, 
Central Officers and Head Teachers to ensure the final plan fully 
reflects the expectations outlined within the published inspection 
report. 
 

 4.12 In addition, further regular progress/evaluation meetings will be offered 
to the Education Scotland Area Lead Officer as part of our 
commitment to securing improvement and in responding to the 
findings of the inspection report. 
 

 4.13 Regular progress updates on all areas contained within the Action 
Plan will be presented to future meetings of the Councils Strategic 
Management Team and Community Services Committee. 
 

5.0 CONCLUSION 
 

 5.1 The report presents an overview of the INEA inspection by 
Education Scotland in September 2016, the final inspection 
outcomes as outlined in the inspection report published on 21 March 
2017 and, importantly the action being taken by the Authority to 
address the main recommendations contained within the report. 
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 

 6.1 Policy The Standards in Scotland’s Schools etc Act 
2000 places a duty on education authorities to 
provide children and young people with 
school education and (in terms of raising 
standards) requires authorities to endeavor to 
secure improvement in the quality of that 
school education. 

 6.2 Financial 
 

None 

 6.3 Legal  None 
 

 6.4 HR None 
 

 6.5 Equalities None 

Page 48



 

 
 6.6 Risk The outcome of the strategic inspection report 

on the effectiveness of the Education functions 
of the authority presents a significant 
reputational risk for the Council. 
 

 6.7 Customer Service None 
 

 
 
 

Ann Marie Knowles 
Acting Executive Director of Community Services 
 

  
Councillor Rory Colville 
Policy Lead for Education and Lifelong Learning 
 
25 March 2017 
                                                  
For further information contact:  
Ann Marie Knowles 
Acting Executive Director of Community Services 
Tel: 01546 604112 
Email: annmarie.knowles@argyll-bute.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Argyll and Bute INEA initial Action plan Appendix 1 
 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 

 

Response to the Inspection of the Education Functions of Argyll and Bute 
Council 

March 2017          
                                                  INEA Action Plan                        

Improvement actions  
 

(Reference: MPFA – Main Point For Action) 

Completion date 

1. The significant work of the Service in preparing and publishing 
the revised Education Vision and Strategy: Our Children, Their 
Future, with a clear focus on ambition, excellence and equality 
reflecting local and national priorities: 
1.1 Preparation of final Strategy document, poster and pocket 

guides for use by all education staff. Issued to all schools 
and services; 

1.2 Official launch of Our Children, Their Future at Tarbert 
Academy. Head Teacher, school staff and pupils provided 
focused input of the practical application of the 6 key 
objectives across the curriculum in a 3-18 establishment; 

1.3 All Authority Head Teachers (HTs) participated in 
workshop activities engaging HT’s to identify the relevant 
actions required to support effective implementation of Our 
Children, Their Future within their own establishments; 

1.4 Preparation of an updated Education Central Team action 
plan using the improvement methodology driver diagram 
to support wider engagement in the delivery of the 
Strategy and Vision. Specified outcomes to be achieved 
by June 2017; 

1.5 Further paper presented to Community Services 
Committee noting the progress and actions taken to 
implement the Education Vision and Strategy; 

1.6 All teams within the Service now aligning all aspect of  
their work and actions to the strategic objectives of OCTF, 
and 

1.7 Education Services, Service Plan clearly aligned to the 
Vision and Strategy. 

(MPFA 5 ) 

 
 
 
 
December 2016 and 
February 2017 
 
16th January 2017 
 
 
 
28th February 2017 
 
 
 
January - March 2017
 
 
 
 
 8th March 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
January - March 2017
 

2. New cohort of Assessment and Moderation Facilitators (AMF) 
have now been trained to ensure effective support for 
classroom practitioners in undertaking assessment and 
moderation activities.  A further cohort are scheduled to 
attending further training due to be delivered in May 2017. As 
a result all schools will now have access to a member of staff 
trained in assessment and moderation by June 2017. 
(MPFA 1 & 2) 

January 2017 
 
 
 
Full completion 
expected by May / 
June 2017 
 

3. The formation of a Head Teacher Advisory Group to support 
improved communication, engagement and relationships 

Recommended 
approach shared with 

Page 51



Appendix 1 
 

between the Authority and schools. 
3.1 Terms of reference for Group formally agreed, and 
3.2 Work plan and meeting programme currently being 

formalised. 
(MPFA 4 & 5) 

 

all Head Teachers in 
November 2016. 
Initial meeting held 21 
Feb 2017. Follow up 
meeting held 27 
March 2017 

4. Quality Assurance and Moderation representatives (teachers) 
have now been trained by Education Scotland to share the 
national standard amongst all teachers in the authority.  
(MPFA 1 & 3 ) 

October 2016 

5. All Authority schools now required to provide the authority with 
evidence of standards of achievement across all levels of CfE. 
This evidence is then quality assured by officers to ensure 
consistency, measured against national benchmarks. Schools 
routinely provided with feedback to support improvement of 
teachers’ professional judgement. 
(MPFA 1, 2 & 3 ) 

September 2016 – 
March 2017 

6. Assessment and Moderation confirmed as an agreed priority 
for inclusion in all school improvement plans for session 
2017/18. Programme of monitoring and evaluation of school 
improvement plans will assess the effectiveness of 
assessment and moderation activities by all schools. 

    (MPFA 1, 2 & 3) 

February 2016 
Comprehensive 
programme of 
support and 
challenge of school 
plans scheduled for 
June / July 2017  

7. Appointment of a dedicated Principal Teacher for Assessment 
now seconded to Education Services (March – June 2017) to 
support schools develop assessment and moderation 
strategies which meet agreed national criteria and 
expectations. 

     (MPFA 1, 3 & 5 ) 

February 2017 

8.  
8.1 The role of centrally deployed officers have been further 

revised to ensure capacity to deliver increased support for 
schools and early years settings. This includes advice in 
curriculum areas such as literacy, numeracy and science, 
technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM); 

8.2 Recruitment to the central team and subsequent 
realignment has increased capacity to support and 
challenge establishments. A key priority for school 
engagement activities is an increased emphasis on 
improving leadership at all levels; 

8.3 Education Officers now have a remit for no more than 15 
schools which is resulting in more regular engagement 
and increasingly robust challenge with Head Teachers and 
schools. An evaluation of the impact of these changes is 
scheduled to take place in May 2017, and 

8.4 All local authority establishments have now received no 
fewer than two quality assurance visits. The focus of these 
visits have included: school improvement and self- 
evaluation.  

     (MPFA 3, 4 & 5) 

 
September 2016 
 
 
 
 
September 2016 
 
 
 
 
August 2016 
 
 
 
 
Visit 1: September / 
November 2016 
Visit 2: December 
2016 / March 2017 
 
 

   

Page 52



Appendix 1 
 

9.  
9.1 Central Education staff recently participated in training 

with Education Scotland on the new quality framework: 
“How Good is Our School 4”. This training has supported 
further improvement and the shared understanding of self 
-evaluation by Central Officers, and 

9.2 The successful appointment of a dedicated Education 
Support Officer: Gaelic from August 2016 has enabled the 
authority to respond to the newly introduced statutory 
requirements for Gaelic Education.  

    (MPFA 3 & 5) 

 
16 March 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
August 2016 

10. Delivery of a programme of professional learning events to 
improve teachers’ knowledge and understanding of 
approaches to raising attainment in literacy and numeracy. 
Resources and training have been provided to schools to 
assist with this process.  

(MPFA 1 & 3) 

September 2016 – 
March 2017 

11. The Education Scotland Attainment Advisor is currently 
engaging with schools across the HALCO area specifically 
focusing on raising attainment in reading through improved 
self – evaluation, and 
A similar initiative is planned to take place in Kintyre in April 
and May 2017. 

(MPFA 1, 2 & 3 ) 

January  - June 2017 

12. A new website dedicated to raising attainment and improving 
outcomes in literacy has been created and will be available 
for all staff from April 2017. 

(MPFA 1) 
 

Completion due April 
2017 

13. The successful appointment of two additional Principal 
Teachers, to support the development and improvement of 
Literacy and Numeracy of pupils across all schools in the 
Authority. Both PTs provided a successful and helpful input 
at the recent HT meeting. 

(MPFA 1 & 3) 
 

September 2016 – 
Jun 2017 

  
Areas for further improvement Timescales 

1. Further develop the remit and focus of the Head Teacher 
Advisory Group to support improved communication, 
engagement and relationships between the Authority and 
Schools.               
(MPFA 4 & 5) 

January – June 2017 

2. Taking further steps to increase the overall proportion of 
children and young people who achieve in line with national 
expectation in Literacy and Numeracy.                                       
(MPFA 1) 

August 2016 - June 
2018 

3. Take further steps to increase the overall proportion of children 
and young people who achieve in line with national expectation 
in Gaelic Medium Education.                                                          
(MPFA 1) 

August 2016- June 
2018 

4. Implement revised approaches to ensure overall improvement 
in levels of attainment for Senior Phase pupils across all SQA 
examination levels. 

August 2016- June 
2018 

Page 53



Appendix 1 
 

(MPFA 1) 
5. Prepare, in consultation with schools, a curriculum principles, 

entitlements and expectations paper for use by all schools. 
(MPFA 1) 

June 2017 

6. Take steps to ensure staff at all levels are sufficiently clear 
about the Authority’s expectation for measuring and closing the 
poverty related attainment gap. 
(MPFA 2) 

June 2017 

7. Continue to monitor curriculum models across each of the 
ten secondary schools to ensure the average tariff scores for 
all Argyll and Bute young people are increased, as 
appropriate. 
(MPFA 1) 

March – June 2017 

8. Provide effective support to schools to ensure their appropriate 
use of data to secure further improvements in achievement and 
attainment for all children and young people. 
(MPFA 1 & 2) 

August 2016 – June 
2017 

9. Further refine the Authority approach to Standards and 
Quality Reporting ensuring: 
(i) improved and more consistent use of all available 

data, and 
(ii) to support more accurate Service benchmarking of 

progress and improvement. 
(MPFA 2 & 5) 

September 2017 

10. Further improve the effectiveness of school support visits by 
Central officers to: 
(i) ensure greater consistency and challenge to all 

schools, and 
(ii) ensure the needs of all pupils are being effectively 

met. 
(MPFA 1 & 3) 

August 2016 – June 
2018 

11. Review and update further the Authority Parental 
Involvement Strategy to ensure greater engagement and 
communication with parents and carers. 
(MPFA 4) 

August 2017 

12. Take steps to develop and strengthen strategic leadership 
across Education Services engaging all Senior Officers. 
(MPFA 5) 

August 2017 

13. Refine further steps taken to improve approaches to self-
evaluation and planning for improvement and changes. 

       (MPFA 5) 

August 2017 

14. Further develop approaches to assessment and moderation 
ensuring all staff are supported to effectively respond to the 
expectations arising from the National Improvement. 
Framework 
(MPFA 1 & 2 & 3)  

August 2016 – June 
2018 

15. Revise current arrangements to reporting of performance 
information at all levels to support Elected members to 
effectively undertake their scrutiny role. 

      (MPFA 2 & 3) 

September 2017 

16. Identify a range of approaches to ensure that all young 
people are encouraged in making an effective contribution to 
decision making, self-evaluation and performance 
improvement processes at both school and Authority levels. 

September 2017 

Page 54



Appendix 1 
 

(MPFA 1 & 4)   
17. Strengthen approaches to professional review processes for 

all Head Teachers. 
(MPFA 3 & 5) 

August 2017 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Inspection Chronology - report by Acting Executive Director - Community Services
	3b Inspection Concerns - report by Acting Executive Director - Community Services
	3c Report by Education Scotland
	3d Response to the Inspection - report by Acting Executive Director - Community Services
	Appendix 1 INEA initial action plan 280317 final version


